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David W. Slayton,

Executive Officer/Clerk of Court,
By E. Galicia, Deputy Clerk

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES

EDWARD STANSFIELD, on behalf of himself
and the general public,

Plaintiff,

WAYFAIR INC., a Delaware corporation; and
Joun DoOEs 1-10,

Defendants.

CaseNo. AEBEST CWwO9=4 7

Complaint for Public Injunctive Relief:

1. Unfair Competition (California
Business & Professions Code § 17200 et
seq.);

2. False Advertising (California Business
& Professions Code § 17500 et seq.); and

3. Violation of the Consumer Legal
Remedies Act (California Civil Code
§ 1750 et seq.)
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Plaintiff Edward Stansfield (“Plaintiff”) brings this action, on behalf of himself and the
general public, against Wayfair Inc., a Delaware corporation; and John Does 1-10 (collectively
“Wayfair” or “Defendants”), and states:

l. INTRODUCTION

1. Wayfair Inc. is an e-commerce company headquartered in Boston, Massachusetts
that sells furniture, home décor, and household goods online. Wayfair operates five branded retail
websites: Wayfair, Joss & Main, AllModern, Birch Lane, and Perigold. As of 2025, Wayfair
generated approximately $12.5 billion in annual revenue and is one of the largest online-only
retailers of home goods in the United States.

2. A key feature of Wayfair’s marketing to consumers is its return policy. Wayfair
prominently advertises a “30-Day Returns” policy throughout its website, including on product
pages, in the shopping cart, and on the checkout page. On each product page, a “Return Policy” tab
advertises a 30-day return policy—even for items that Wayfair has designated as non-returnable. At
no point on the product page is the consumer informed that the specific item being viewed cannot be
returned. This advertising gives consumers the impression that merchandise purchased from
Wayfair may be returned within 30 days of delivery.

3. However, certain merchandise sold on Wayfair’s website is designated as non-
returnable. For these items, Wayfair includes a small notice stating “This item cannot be canceled
or returned” on the shopping cart page. This notice appears in smaller, lighter-colored text, and is
positioned directly above the prominently displayed “30-Day Returns” banner on the same page.

4. Critically, by the time the consumer reaches the checkout page—the page where the
consumer finalizes and commits to the purchase—the non-returnable notice has disappeared
entirely. The checkout page continues to prominently display the “30-Day Returns” banner, but
contains no indication whatsoever that the item the consumer is about to purchase cannot be
returned.

5. This practice deceives consumers in three ways. First, the product page itself
advertises a 30-day return policy without disclosing that the specific item being viewed is non-
returnable, leading the consumer to begin the purchase process under a false impression. Second,
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the brief, inconspicuous non-returnable notice on the cart page is overshadowed by the prominent,
bolded “30-Day Returns” advertising that appears on the same page, such that a reasonable
consumer is unlikely to notice or appreciate that the specific item in their cart is non-returnable.
Third, and most fundamentally, the complete absence of the non-returnable notice on the checkout
page —coupled with the continued presence of the “30-Day Returns” advertising—affirmatively
misleads consumers into believing their purchase is returnable at the precise moment they commit
to the transaction.

6. On information and belief, a substantial volume of merchandise sold on Wayfair’s
website is designated as non-returnable, and Wayfair’s misleading return policy advertising affects a
significant number of consumers who purchase these items without adequate notice of the no-return
restriction.

7. Wayfair’s practice of advertising a 30-day return policy to consumers while obscuring
the fact that certain merchandise cannot be returned constitutes false advertising. A return policy is
a material term of a consumer transaction, and Wayfair’s advertising misrepresents a material term
of sale for non-returnable items.

8. The availability of returns is a significant factor in online purchasing decisions.
Academic research consistently demonstrates that return policies reduce perceived risk and increase
consumer willingness to purchase, and that consumers rely heavily on return policy representations
when deciding whether to buy a product online, where they cannot physically inspect the
merchandise before committing to the purchase.

9. Through this deceptive practice, Defendants have violated California’s unfair
competition, false advertising, and consumer protection laws. This action seeks public injunctive
relief to protect California consumers who are potential future Wayfair customers from this
deceptive scheme.

. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
10.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action under Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 410.10, Cal.

Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17203-17204, 17604, and Cal. Civ. Code § 1780(a).
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11. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants. Events giving rise to the cause
of action occurred in California as a result of Defendants’ conduct directed toward California
consumers, and Defendants made misrepresentations toward Plaintiff and other California
consumers who viewed and relied on those misrepresentations.

12.  Venue is proper in this Court under Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 395 because Wayfair does
not have a designated place of business in California.

Ill.  PARTIES

13. Plaintiff Edward Stansfield is a resident of California. Plaintiff purchased non-
returnable merchandise from Wayfair’s website that was delivered to his address in Playa Del Rey,
California.

14.  Defendant Wayfair Inc. is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business
in Boston, Massachusetts.

15. Plaintiff does not know the names of the defendants sued as John Does 1-10 but will
amend this complaint when that information becomes known. Plaintiff alleges on information and
belief that each of the Doe defendants is affiliated with Defendants in some respect and is in some
manner responsible for the wrongdoing alleged herein, either as a direct participant, a principal, an
agent, a successor, an alter ego, a co-conspirator, or an aider-and-abettor with one of the named
defendants.

16.  Plaintiff is informed and believes that at all times material hereto and mentioned
herein, each Defendant sued herein was the agent, servant, employer, joint venturer, partner,
subsidiary, parent, division, alias, alter ego, co-conspirator, or aider-and-abettor of the other
Defendants. Plaintiff is also informed and believes that, at all times, each Defendant was acting
within the purpose and scope of such agency, servitude, employment, ownership, subsidiary, alias,
and/or alter ego and with the authority, consent, approval, control, influence, and ratification of

each remaining Defendant sued herein.
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IV.  GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

17. Defendants are engaging in a false and misleading advertising scheme in the
marketing and selling of merchandise on Wayfair’s website by uniformly advertising a “30-Day
Returns” policy while failing to adequately disclose that certain merchandise is non-returnable.

18.  Wayfair advertises its 30-day return policy prominently and pervasively throughout
its website. On each product page, a “Return Policy” tab states that Wayfair offers a 30-day return
policy on most items—but does not disclose whether the specific item being viewed is non-
returnable. A “30-Day Returns” banner also appears in the shopping cart and on the checkout page.
The banner is displayed in bold text with a distinctive icon, and states: “Not loving it? We offer
returns for most items within 30 days of delivery for a refund or store credit.”

19.  Notwithstanding this pervasive advertising, certain items sold on Wayfair’s website
are designated as non-returnable. For these items, Wayfair includes a small, inconspicuous notice on
the shopping cart page stating: “This item cannot be canceled or returned.” This notice is displayed
with an information icon (“i”) in smaller, lighter-colored text that is easily overlooked, particularly
because it appears on the same page as the bold, prominently displayed “30-Day Returns” banner.

20.  More significantly, when the consumer proceeds from the cart page to the checkout
page —the final page where the consumer commits to the purchase by clicking “Place Your
Order” —the non-returnable notice disappears entirely. The checkout page contains no indication
that the item being purchased is non-returnable. The “30-Day Returns” banner, however,
continues to be prominently displayed on the checkout page.

21.  Research consistently demonstrates that return policies are among the most
important factors influencing online purchasing decisions. A meta-analysis of 21 studies found that
lenient return policies significantly increase consumer willingness to purchase, particularly in the
online retail context where consumers cannot physically examine merchandise before buying.
Narayan Janakiraman, Holly A. Syrdal & Ryan Freling, The Effect of Return Policy Leniency on
Consumer Purchase and Return Decisions: A Meta-analytic Review, 92 J. of Retailing 226 (June
2016). Because consumers cannot inspect products before buying them online, the availability of
returns provides a crucial safety net that reduces the perceived risk of the transaction.
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22.  Research further demonstrates that consumers tend to process return policy
information heuristically rather than carefully reading the details of return restrictions. Lenient
return policies serve as a signal of product quality and reduce the perceived risks associated with
online purchases. See, e.g., Janakiraman et al. at 226-28; see also Stacy L. Wood, Remote Purchase
Environments: The Influence of Return Policy Leniency on Two-Stage Decision Processes, 38 J. of
Mktg. Res. 157 (May 2001). Accordingly, when a retailer prominently advertises a generous return
policy, consumers are likely to assume that the policy applies to all merchandise, absent a clear and
conspicuous disclosure to the contrary.

23.  Accordingly, research confirms that return policy representations are material to
consumer purchasing decisions, and that misleading return policy advertising is likely to deceive
consumers by causing them to purchase products they would not otherwise have purchased, or to
purchase products at prices they would not otherwise have paid, in reliance on the belief that they
could return the merchandise if dissatisfied.

24.  Defendants’ misleading return policy advertising has caused and continues to cause
injury to consumers who purchase non-returnable merchandise from Wayfair’s website in reliance
on the prominently advertised 30-day return policy. These consumers are deprived of a material
benefit—the right to return unsatisfactory merchandise—that they reasonably believed they were
receiving at the time of purchase.

25.  No reasonable consumer, upon learning that an item they purchased was non-
returnable and that the 30-day return policy prominently advertised throughout the checkout

process did not apply to their purchase, would have purchased the merchandise at the price they

paid.
26.  Defendants’ deceptive return policy advertising violates California law in a number
of ways.
27.  First, it constitutes an unfair business practice under California’s Unfair
Competition Law (UCL).
28.  Second, it constitutes a fraudulent business practice under the UCL.
6
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29.  Third, it constitutes false advertising under the False Advertising Law (FAL), which
makes it unlawful for a business to make any false or misleading statement in connection with the
sale of merchandise. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500.

30.  Fourth, it constitutes an unlawful business practice under the UCL because it
violates the FAL.

31. Fifth, it constitutes an unlawful business practice under the UCL because it violates
the Consumer Legal Remedies Act (CLRA), which prohibits a business from “[r]epresenting that a
transaction confers or involves rights, remedies, or obligations that it does not have or involve,” Cal.
Civ. Code § 1770(2a)(14), and from “[r]epresenting that the subject of a transaction has been
supplied in accordance with a previous representation when it has not,” Cal. Civ. Code
§ 1770(a)(16).

32.  Sixth, it constitutes an unlawful business practice under the UCL because it violates
the Federal Trade Commission Act (FTCA), which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts affecting
commerce, as well as false advertising. 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a)(1), 52(c). The FTC has consistently taken
the position that material terms of sale, including return policies, must be clearly and conspicuously
disclosed to consumers, and that a disclosure is not “clear and conspicuous” if it is contradicted by
other statements made in the same advertisement.

V. SPECIFIC ALLEGATIONS

33.  Inearly 2026, Plaintiff purchased an Endurathane Fox Crown Moulding (SKU
FRUQ2764) by Ekena Millwork from Wayfair’s website for $90.19, plus $8.79 in tax, for a total of
$98.98. The item was delivered to Plaintift’s address in Playa Del Rey, California.

34. At the time of purchase, Wayfair’s website displayed the item with a struck-through
former price of $111.24 and a sale price of $90.19, along with a “Sale” badge. The order summary
prominently stated: “You are saving $21.05 on this order!” The item was designated as non-
returnable.

35.  While the cart page included a small notice stating “'This item cannot be canceled or
returned,” this notice was overshadowed by the prominent “30-Day Returns” banner displayed on
the same page. Moreover, when Plaintiff proceeded to the checkout page, the non-returnable notice
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was no longer displayed. The checkout page displayed only the “30-Day Returns” banner, giving

the impression that the item could be returned within 30 days of delivery.

36.

Below is a screenshot of Wayfair’s product page for the item Plaintiff purchased.

Note the “Return Policy” tab at the bottom of the page, which displays a “30-Day Return Policy’

banner—with no indication that this specific item is non-returnable:

El g 'wn“‘.’

::Wayfqir { Find anything home...

n ® Sign In E1 Cart

& Verified NewArrivals Best Sellers  Collaberations  Shop by Reom < Inspiration  The Ouidoor Shop ~ Services

Furniture Outdoor Bedding&Bath Rugs Decor&Pillows Lighting Organization Kifchen Baby&Kids Home Improvement Appliances Pet Holiday Sale

Home Improvement / Flooring, Walls & Ceiling / Flooring Installation & Accessories / Molding & Millwork / SKU: FRUQ2764

M Endurathane Fox Crown Moulding, 18 1/2"H x 14 5/8"P x 23 1/2"F x 47"L, Factory Primed $90.19 s11124 Add to Cart

Endurathane Fox Crown Moulding, 18 1/2"H x 14 5/8"P x 23 1/2"F x
47"L, Factory Primed
By Ekena Millwork

$90.19 sm2s  , $23in 4 payments starting at 0% APR with

19% Off Atterpay Learn More ()
Sale
Pro Price: ¢ i Only Enroll your business for FREE to save on select items.

Molding & Millwork Buying Guide

FREE Delivery
Get it Thu, Mar 12 - Sat, Mar 14 to 44022

" s - “ Add to Cart

Earn 5% back' in rewards, plus more exclusive perks
Learn more

Get $40 off your qualifying first order of $250+** with the Wayfair Credit Card!
Apply Now

Get Everything You Need
=
Orac Decor | Decofix Pro Orac Decor Decofix
Adhesive Cartridge, Whi...  Power Adhesive 9-3/4 Oz

( addioCat ) ( AddioCart )

Hzl
:

d: L

About This Product

Urethane crown moulding has become an increasingly pepular choice for
homeowners and builders alike due to its myriad benefits. Unlike wood, which can
warp, crack, or rot over time, urethane is highly resistant fo moisture and
temperature changes. This makes it an ideal choice for areas prone to humidity or
extreme weather conditions. Whether it’s installed in a bathroom, kitchen, or

Show More

Specifications b
Return Policy

30-Day Return Policy
n Not loving it? We offer returns for most items within 30 days of delivery for

a refund or store credit.

Learn More
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37.

Below is a screenshot of Wayfair’s shopping cart page for the item Plaintiff

purchased. Note the small “This item cannot be canceled or returned” notice in lighter text,

directly above the bold “30-Day Returns” banner:

Get it Thu, Mar 12 - Sun, Mar 15 fir
emove

30-Day Returns
Not loving it? We offer returns for most items.

within 30 days of delivery for a refund or store

‘ Shopping Assistance
Have questions before you check out? We're
here to help!

Open. Closes at 11:59 PM ET.
% Callus §J Chat Now

P
®

credit.

Learn More

You May Also Need

£ o}

L e TSy e o o
€ Back to Shopping
Order Summary (1)
rt

Ca This order qualifies for Free Shipping!
Endurathane Fox Crown Moulding, 18 1/2'H x 14 5/8'P x 23 1/2'F x 47, $9(0,19 524 Itern Subtotal (1) o
Factory Primed Quaniity
by Ekena Millwork | FRUQ2764 i - Deliver fo 90293 BREE

- Estimated Tax $8.79

O This item cannot be canceled or returned.
kg e Total $98.98

or pay $25in 4 paymentsssiariing af 0% APR
with [E) Afterpay Learn More ()

Lwayfair

REWARDS

You are saving $21.05 on this order!

Proceed To Checkout

Add Gift Card/Promo Code

Earn 5% back' in rewards!

Plus, access member-only sales, free
shipping’, and more when you join

Jein now for $29/year

38.  And below is a screenshot of Wayfair’s checkout page for the same item. Note that

the non-returnable notice has disappeared entirely, while the “30-Day Returns” banner remains

prominently displayed:

£3 Secure Checkout

swayfair REWARDS

You're missing out!
Earn $4.51in Rewards today!

Plus enjoy free shipping’ & speciol offers-bonus: your rewards never sxpire! Learn More .

( Join Wayfair Rewards >

Shipping Address Chonge
Edward Stansfield
8180 Manitoba Street, Apt 313, Playa Del Rey, CA 90293-8738
4159520035
Payment Info Change
Visa eees 1412
VISA Exp: D4/2028 - Edword Stansfield
Pay ever time with partners ke affem), Miomea & (B Merpsy Sae our financing ontions
Delivery & Services
Endurathane Fox Crown Moulding, 18 1/2°H x 14 5/8°P x 23 1/2°F x 47°L, Factory Primed
Get it Thu. Mar 12 - Sun. Mar 15 Free
Ground
Get it by Fri. Mor 13
Enpress
30-Day Returns
\™/  Notloving it? We offer returns for most items within 30 days of delivery for a refund or store credit

Morg

1wt

0

Order Summary (1) v

Item Subtatal (1) $9019
Delivery FREE
Tox $8.79
Total $98.98

You are saving $21.05 on this order!

Place Your Order

you agree to our privacy policy and terms of use

ve email offers from Wayfoir in accordance with the

{vacy policy. Unsubscribe of any fime
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39.  Plaintiff relied on Wayfair’s prominent advertising of its 30-day return policy in
deciding to purchase the item. After receiving the merchandise, Plaintiff attempted to make a return
and learned it was nonreturnable. Had Plaintiff known at the time he committed to the purchase on
the checkout page that the item was non-returnable and that the 30-day return policy did not apply,
he would not have purchased the item at the price he paid.

VI.  CAuUsEs OF ACTION

First Cause of Action
Unfair Competition, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq. against Defendants

40.  Plaintiff realleges all of the allegations in prior paragraphs.

41.  The UCL defines unfair business competition to include any “unlawful, unfair or
fraudulent” practice, as well as any “unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading” advertising. Cal. Bus.
& Prof. Code § 17200. Liability under the UCL attaches when a party engages in unfair, fraudulent,
or unlawful practices, regardless of the party’s state of mind.

Unfair Business Practices

42.  Abusiness act or practice is unfair under the UCL if it offends an established public
policy or is immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous, or substantially injurious to consumers,
and unfairness is determined by weighing the reasons, justifications, and motives of the practice
against the gravity of the harm to the alleged victims.

43.  Defendants’ misleading return policy advertising constitutes an unfair business
practice because the scheme misled customers about a material term of sale, offended established
public policies of transparency in advertising and consumer transactions, and constituted immoral,
unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous activity that is substantially injurious to consumers.

44.  The harm to Plaintiff outweighs any rationale for Defendants’ practices. There were
alternative means of furthering Defendants’ legitimate business interests other than deceiving their
customers, including clearly and conspicuously disclosing the non-returnable status of merchandise
on the checkout page.

Fraudulent Business Practices

45. A business practice is fraudulent under the UCL if it is likely to deceive consumers.
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46.  Defendants’ misleading return policy advertising constitutes a fraudulent business
practice because Defendants deceived Plaintiff into purchasing non-returnable merchandise under
the false impression that the merchandise was subject to a 30-day return policy, when in fact it was
not.

47.  Plaintiff relied on Defendants’ fraudulent and deceptive advertising of the 30-day
return policy. The prominent display of the “30-Day Returns” banner on the checkout page, absent
any disclosure that the item was non-returnable, played a substantial role in Plaintiff’s decision to
purchase the merchandise. Plaintiff would not have purchased the merchandise at the price he paid
without Defendants’ misrepresentations.

Unlawful Business Practices

48. A business practice is unlawful under the UCL if it violates any other law or
regulation.

49.  Defendants’ misleading return policy advertising violates the FAL, the CLRA, and
the FTCA.

50.  Defendants’ unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business practices have caused injury to
Plaintiff and to the general public.

51. Plaintiff is entitled under the UCL to public injunctive relief enjoining Defendants’
use of their unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent misleading return policy advertising in California in the
future. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203.

52.  The injunctive relief sought is for the benefit of the general public. Defendants’
misleading return policy advertising is an ongoing practice that, absent public injunctive relief, will
deceive future potential California Wayfair consumers.

Second Cause of Action
False Advertising, Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500, et seq. against Defendants

53.  Plaintiff realleges all of the allegations in prior paragraphs.
54.  The FAL makes it unlawful for a business that intends to sell a product to make any
false or misleading statement in connection with the sale or attempted sale of that product. Cal. Bus.

& Prof. Code § 17500.
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55.  The FAL prohibits any statement that is untrue or misleading, and which is known,
or which by the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue or misleading. Cal. Bus. &
Prof. Code § 17500.

56.  Defendants’ misleading return policy advertising violated section 17500 because
Defendants’ advertisements prominently and pervasively represented that purchases were subject
to a 30-day return policy when, for non-returnable merchandise, this representation was false and
misleading. The false representation was made on the checkout page, the page where consumers
commit to purchases, and was not corrected by any disclosure on that page.

57.  Defendants’ false advertising misled Plaintiff.

58.  Defendants’ false advertising has caused and continues to cause injury to Plaintiff
and to the general public.

59.  Plaintiff is entitled under the FAL to public injunctive relief enjoining Defendants’
use of their misleading return policy advertising in California in the future. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §
17535.

Third Cause of Action
Violation of the Consumer Legal Remedies Act, Cal. Civ. Code § 1750, et seq. against Defendants

60.  Plaintiff realleges all of the allegations in prior paragraphs.

61.  The CLRA makes unlawful certain “unfair methods of competition and unfair or
deceptive acts or practices undertaken by any person in a transaction intended to result or that
results in the sale or lease of goods or services to any consumer.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(a).

62.  The CLRA prohibits, among other things, “[r]epresenting that a transaction confers
or involves rights, remedies, or obligations that it does not have or involve.” Cal. Civ. Code
§ 1770(a)(14).

63.  The CLRA further prohibits “[r]epresenting that the subject of a transaction has
been supplied in accordance with a previous representation when it has not.” Cal. Civ. Code
§ 1770(a)(16).

64.  The CLRA also prohibits “[r]epresenting that goods or services have sponsorship,

approval, characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not have or that a
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person has a sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connection that the person does not have.”
Cal. Civ. Code § 1770(a)(5).

65.  Defendants violated section 1770(a)(14) by representing, through their pervasive
“30-Day Returns” advertising on the checkout page, that the purchase of non-returnable
merchandise conferred a right to return the merchandise within 30 days when in fact the transaction
did not confer or involve that right.

66.  Defendants violated section 1770(a)(16) by representing on the checkout page that
merchandise was subject to a 30-day return policy when it was not, thereby representing that goods
had been supplied in accordance with previous representations when they had not.

67.  Defendants violated section 1770(a)(5) by representing that the merchandise came
with the benefit of free 30-day returns when in fact it did not.

68.  Defendants’ violations of the CLRA have caused and continue to cause injury to
Plaintiff and to the general public.

69.  Pursuant to Cal. Civ. Code § 1780(a)(2), Plaintiff is entitled to public injunctive relief
enjoining Defendants from continuing to engage in the deceptive practices described herein.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Plaintiff) on behalf of himself and the general public, requests that this Court award the
following relief against Defendants:

a. public injunctive relief under the UCL, FAL, and CLRA to protect California
consumers from Defendants’ deceptive advertising concerning the returnability of merchandise on
the Wayfair website; and

b. attorneys’ fees and costs.

Dated: March 23,2026 WARREN TERZIAN LLP

QA

Thomas D. Warren
Counsel for Plaintiff
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